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Australia’s peak body for 
fire safety, supporting and 
representing the fire protection 
industry for almost a century.

 30,000+ Individuals Reached

 42 Staff

 3,682 FPAS Accredited Practitioners

 202 BPAD Accredited Practitioners

 2,811 Registered Cablers

 6 Local Coordinating Committees

 8 Technical Advisory Committees

 1,870 Members
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Our vision  
and purpose 
A safer community 
where loss of life, 
injury, and damage 
to property and 
the environment 
are minimised 
through effective 
fire protection.
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Our mission

As the peak body, FPA Australia represents and supports our 
members, and works with government, business, and other 
stakeholders to:

	\ promote a world class fire protection industry; 
	\ deliver education and direction on industry best practice; 
	\ develop, maintain, and recognise professional 

competence and conduct; 
	\ create and deliver career pathways; 
	\ provide relevant business services, resources, and 

networking opportunities; 
	\ advocate to government and other stakeholders for the 

continuous improvement of policy, legislation, codes and 
standards; and 

	\ invest in research and advocacy to develop and 
implement improved fire protection rules and practices. 

Our values

Integrity
Behaving ethically and respectfully, acting with loyalty, 
honesty, compassion, and transparency. 

Independence
Expressing our views free of bias, coercion, favouritism, and 
external interest. 

Effectiveness
Achieving tangible and relevant outcomes informed by 
engagement with our members and the industry. 

Professionalism
Committing to the continuous advancement and improvement 
of the Association and its members. 

Accountability
Taking responsibility for our decisions and actions. 

Customer service
Being supportive, empathetic, and respectful towards all 
customers, whether member or not.

Our patron

His Excellency General the 
Honourable David Hurley  
AC DSC (Retd), Governor-
General of Australia

His Excellency General the Honourable David Hurley AC DSC (Retd) 
is Australia’s 27th Governor-General, commencing on 1 July, 2019. 
Prior to this, General Hurley served a five-year term as the 38th 
Governor of New South Wales. 

The Governor-General’s career has mostly been spent as an officer 
in the Australian Army, where his 42-year tenure culminated in his 
appointment as the Chief of the Defence Force, but had previously 
seen support roles in Somalia, East Timor, and other operations. 

In 1993 he received a Distinguished Service Cross for his service in 
Somalia; in 2004 he was made an Officer of the Order of Australia 
(AO); and, in 2010, he was appointed a Companion of the Order of 
Australia (AC) for eminent service to the Australian Defence Force. 

Our ambassador

Professor Fiona Wood AM

Professor Fiona Wood AM is an 
internationally acclaimed burns 
researcher and surgeon, known 
for achievements such as the 
development of “spray on skin” and leadership of a Perth based 
team which treated 28 survivors of the Bali bombings in 2002. 

She leads the Fiona Wood Foundation, FPA Australia’s Official 
Charity Partner, and is the Director of the Burns Service Western 
Australia and a Consultant Plastic Surgeon at Fiona Stanley Hospital 
and Princess Margaret Hospital for Children. 

Professor Wood was made a Member of the Order of Australia (AM) 
in 2003. In 2005 she won the Western Australian Citizen of the Year 
award for her contribution to medicine in the field of burns research, 
and in the same year was also named Australian of the Year. 

She was named an Australian Living Treasure by the National Trust 
and was voted the most trusted Australian in a Readers Digest poll 
for six successive years from 2005 to 2010.
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It goes without saying that the 2020-21 
financial year has been another great 
challenge, but we’ve been able to continue 
making an impact because of the positive 
commitment of our FPA Australia members 
and leadership team.

Unfortunately, the pandemic didn’t end in 2020 and we’re 
only now just emerging from months of lockdowns and 
restrictions that, at various times, affected more than 60% 
of Australia’s population and GDP. 

The Association has had to adjust to these changing 
government policies, but it hasn’t stopped us from working 
in the interests of our members and community safety. 

The year started with the formal recognition by the NSW 
Government of the Fire Protection Accreditation Scheme 
(FPAS) categories of Fire Systems Design (FSD) and 
Fire Safety Assessment (FSA). Almost three years’ work 
and over a million dollars of investment has delivered a 
significant step forward in the professionalisation of the 
fire protection industry. I congratulate the Accreditation 
and Licensing team and the rest of the FPA Australia staff, 
for this outstanding achievement. 

This initiative was the first foray into a year of significant 
reform work in NSW where Building Commissioner David 
Chandler OAM had a personal mission to fix construction 
in that state, using the Shergold-Weir Building Confidence 
Report (BCR) as his roadmap. This promises beneficial 
reforms for the fire protection industry such as a digital 
building manual. We continue to work closely with the 
NSW Government to bring about some long-overdue 
improvements. 

Other states and territories have also picked up the 
BCR reform agenda with licensing coming to Victoria 
and South Australia for routine service work and in 
Queensland for several fire protection roles. In addition, 
South Australia has introduced licensing and reformed 
its planning system, Tasmania is still working on licensing 
and permit system reforms, and WA is reforming approval 
processes for commercial buildings. 

These initiatives have significant implications for the fire 
protection industry and the Association needs to be 
prepared to respond to such local changes. 

In June, FPA Australia rolled out a National Advocacy 
Framework, a strategy to increase engagement with  
state and territory governments. This plan will eventually 
see a state manager in each jurisdiction, starting with 
Allen Mitchell in Queensland and Mark Whybro in New 
South Wales. 

The Framework will greatly enhance our capacity and 
ability to respond and resolve local issues and will 
deliver better support to our membership. It is part of the 
ongoing restructure of FPA Australia that I reported on in 
last year’s report which turned an impending deficit into  
a surplus and set us up for ongoing improvements. 

Over the next year a major focus will be on developing 
and expanding our training capability. The successful 
launch of the Barry Lee Training Room at the NSW 
Emergency Services Academy has shown the benefits of 
collaboration and we are keen to turn that into tangible 
training outcomes to support the next generation of fire 
practitioners. 

My thanks, as always, go to the FPA Australia staff, who 
have weathered the double turbulence of a pandemic 
and structural change, coming out the other side with 
a positive and determined focus. Their diligence and 
commitment to the organisation has kept us on track, and 
we couldn’t do any of this without them. 

I would also like to acknowledge the Board for its tireless 
work for the fire protection sector. I’ve been proud to serve 
with the other volunteer Directors who are dedicated to 
improving both the industry and community safety. 

Finally, on behalf of my fellow Directors and the FPA 
Australia team, I thank all of our members for their 
involvement in our Association – we are here for your 
benefit and we have welcomed your support during 
these uncertain times. 

On a personal note, I have been honoured to serve 
on the Board since 2009 and, after 12 years, am 
standing down to let others take on the leadership of 
our critically important industry. I would like to express 
my appreciation for the faith you’ve placed in me as a 
Director and President. 

To the members, the new Board, and FPA Australia itself, 
I wish you all a very happy and successful 2022. 

William Lea AFSM 
President

A message 
from the 
National 
President
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It is a pleasure to be giving the CEO’s report 
this year and to detail some of our major 
achievements. 

I appreciate the Board’s support for me while I’ve acted 
in this role and am very proud to work for Australia’s 
peak industry association for the fire protection sector, 
continuing almost 100 years of excellence, innovation, 
and community safety. 

As Bill has already touched upon, the past financial  
year has proven to be interesting for all concerned.  
The ongoing Coronavirus pandemic has been challenging 
and forced us to be adaptable, with the twin pressures 
of working from home and a high staff turnover. On the 
positive side, this has allowed us to improve processes and 
bring fresh ideas and perspectives into the organisation, 
although remote onboarding has been difficult. 

Fire Australia 2021 Conference and Tradeshow went 
ahead as planned, despite some last-minute government-
imposed restrictions. A range of inspiring speakers, over 
2,500 attendees, almost 80 exhibitors, and the combined 
conference dinner with the Fire Protection Industry 
Awards made it a great success, and plans are already 
underway for the next event in Melbourne. 

There is an unprecedented level of regulatory reform, 
which has stretched the Technical team, but we’ve 
managed to respond while maintaining a rigorous 
approach to reviewing building regulations and 
standards. The introduction of the National Advocacy 
Framework will bring experienced leaders in to help 
improve our advocacy reach. 

Accreditation and Licensing has been very busy rolling 
out FPAS in NSW and developing the policies and 
processes needed to implement the qualified pathway 
and to commence our auditing program. Almost 2,000 
practitioners are accredited under the mandatory scheme 
in that state, and almost the same number in Inspect 
and Test across the country. The Bushfire Planning and 
Development scheme (BPAD) also continues to grow. 

Like all not-for-profits, the pandemic saw our events move 
to webinars that were aimed at catering to members’ 
information needs. Topics ranged from passive fire, to 
detection, to mechanical smoke control, to information 
about FPAS for practitioners, and we’ve developed a 
significant library of past events. 

Engagement suffered with border restrictions, but 
membership growth remained strong, with a record 1,870 
members at the end of June, eclipsed by September’s 
1,887 members. This was achieved with a third of the staff 
previously allocated to this area, and the Membership 
team should be congratulated for the achievement. We 
aim to increase local activity next year, which should see 
these results improve further.

Recognition by governments of routine service work 
as essential has continued to deliver strong sales of 
logbooks, guides, and standards. 

We have expanded communications, with FireSignals 
being broken up into six different monthly enewsletters – 
one or two going out each week. This has allowed us to 
increase the frequency of our engagement with members 
and stakeholders, and tailor messaging to particular 
activity areas. Fire Australia magazine continues to be 
a flagship publication, reaching 5,000 people a quarter, 
and we’ve significantly increased our social media 
engagement, allowing us to cross-promote our activities. 

Unfortunately, Training experienced some unexpected 
setbacks over the last financial year, but a new team is in 
place which has been making important and necessary 
transformations to our training program. One of our 
key goals for FY22 is to reposition FPA Australia at the 
forefront of fire protection training, and we’ve now got the 
people in place who can achieve that. 

FPA Australia has a lot of potential – talented staff, 
an engaged Board, tireless unpaid volunteers, and 
a committed, enthusiastic membership. By working 
together, we have an opportunity to make great progress 
on behalf of the fire protection industry, to professionalise 
the sector and to improve community safety. 

The FPA Australia team is dedicated to the success of 
the sector and to improvements in fire safety. We look 
forward to working with our members in 2022 to create a 
world-class fire protection industry.

Leigh Gesthuizen 
Interim Chief Operating Officer

A message from 
the Interim 
Chief Executive 
Officer
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Membership is the lifeblood of FPA Australia, 
and throughout FY21, it has continued to grow. 

Despite concerns of a coronavirus slump, our 
retention rate was high for the year – an average 
of 90.7% – and we attracted 284 new members. 

This saw our total membership rise from 1,781 in 
June, 2020, to a record of 1,870 in June, 2021 – 
a trend that has continued in the months since. 

Member 
Services
Representing the 
fire protection 
industry. 
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While this growth has primarily occurred in the biggest states of 
NSW (51 new members, or a 5.8% increase) and Victoria (21, 5.7%), 
this has only made us more determined to increase our profile in 
other states and to improve local member benefits and engagement. 

As at the end of FY21, NSW continued to be the largest state, with 
49.6% of the membership, followed by Victoria (20.9%), Queensland 
(11.7%), and Western Australia (10.4%). 

Corporate membership is still most of our base, comprising 77.8% 
of the total, with individual, professional, and honorary life members 
representing 19.8% and organisations the remaining 2.4%. 

This membership isn’t static, with revenue from upgrades in 
membership bringing in almost 5½ times more than the losses from 
downgrades, which is a pleasing sign that the industry is coping and 
growing during a period of great uncertainty. 

Over the next 12 months, a review and refresh of FPA Australia’s 
member benefits and an increase in activity at a state and territory 
level, supported by the rollout of the National Advocacy Framework, 
will hopefully help to stimulate further membership growth. 

June 2020
1,781

July
1,786

August
1,813

September
1,830

October
1,833

November
1,827

December
1,835

January 2021
1,816

February
1,822

March
1,832

April
1,849

May
1,853

June
1,870

Member numbers 2020-21

Location of members Membership categories

NSW
49.6%

ACT
1.5%

International
0.3%

WA
10.4%

VIC
20.9%

TAS
1.2%

SA
3.6%

QLD
11.7%

NT
1.0%

Corporate Platinum 0.3%

Corporate Franchise 7.6%

Professional Member 0.9%
Honorary Life Member 0.3%

Organisation Bronze 0.6%
Organisation Silver 1.6%

Organisation Gold 0.1%

Corporate
Gold
15.2%

Corporate
Silver
20.4%

Corporate Bronze
34.3%

Individual
Member
18.6%
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Member Engagement

The Coronavirus pandemic put a significant handbrake on FPA 
Australia’s engagement strategy. 

Our newly recreated Local Coordinating Committees (set up in 
2019) experienced difficulties in meeting remotely, and plans had 
to be shelved several times in the face of shifting restrictions and 
lockdowns. 

A member update roadshow in June and a mini-conference series in 
October both had to be cancelled, but we haven’t abandoned those 
preparations and will use them to develop our future events. 

Government restrictions meant some committee members chose 
not to participate in virtual LCC meetings, but they are now 
becoming re-engaged and 2022 is looking like being a more  
active year. 

Sales

As always, FPA Australia’s shop has performed strongly, particularly 
in relation to logbook sales, which remain popular. 

We continue to be hampered somewhat in the supply of guides 
and standards from external providers, which has affected overall 
profitability and prevented the association from offering significant 
discounts this year. 

However, now that things are beginning to return to normal, we 
hope to negotiate new agreements soon that will give us more 
opportunities to deliver savings to members. 

Last year’s plans to move the shop online progressed only so far 
and had to be put on hold because of staff changes. FPA Australia 
hopes to finalise this project soon, as it will greatly increase the 
usability and accessibility of online sales for the benefit of members. 

$0

$200,000

$400,000

$600,000

$800,000

$1,000,000

$1,200,000

$1,400,000

$1,600,000

FY16
$1,227,613

FY17
$1,309,782

FY18
$1,252,249

FY19
$1,300,709

FY20
$1,544,493

FY21
$1,645,635

Sales Revenue Growth

Member Services Continued...

New rules for the committees – planned for delivery last year – 
were also shelved temporarily, but work has recommenced on  
them, and we hope to have them available for review by members 
early in 2022. 

FPA Australia sees an increase in local activity as a cornerstone 
in our resurgence in each state and territory, and we plan to run 
several events next year to deliver more opportunity and value to 
our members. 

We encourage members to participate in these events and forums 
and to contribute their own ideas, so that the events we run can 
continue to be relevant to your needs. 

The following graph 
shows ongoing 
revenue from the 
shop. An accounting 
reporting change led 
to a leap in the FY20 
result, but the figures for 
that year and FY21 are 
relatively consistent.

With improved 
functionality, and the prospect of 
additions to our product line, we hope to 
be able to improve the experience of potential customers.
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Advocacy 
and technical
The voice of the 
fire protection 
industry. 

FY21 has been significant for the Technical 
team, with the challenges of our usual work 
being increased by both a pandemic and 
once-in-a-generation building industry reforms 
in response to the 2018 Shergold-Weir Building 
Confidence report (BCR). 

This was made more difficult by significant staff turnover, but 
the Technical team has risen to the occasion and continued 
its efforts to represent the fire protection industry and 
provide technical support to members. 

Our ongoing engagement with governments and standards-
setting organisations has led to changes to legislation, 
codes, and standards, including delivering updates to 
our own residential sprinkler Technical Specifications 
FPAA101D and FPAA101H for adoption in the 2022 National 
Construction Code (NCC). 

12



A new national advocacy framework

To increase our advocacy reach and influence, FPA Australia has 
introduced a National Advocacy Framework – a network of state 
managers whose job it will be to build our profile and connections  
at a local level. 

These experienced managers will use their contacts to open doors 
and position FPA Australia and its members more effectively on 
relevant issues, establishing strong working relationships with the 
politicians and bureaucrats who develop policy that affects the fire 
protection industry. 

Working with the Technical team and our Local Coordinating 
Committee members, they will represent our members on local issues 
and ensure that FPA Australia continues to have a seat at the table. 

The first of these managers – Allen Mitchell – was appointed in 
June in Queensland, while Mark Whybro joined us in NSW in July. 

Over the coming months, we will be announcing further 
appointments, as we roll the network out across the country. 

Technical support

FPA Australia’s Technical team plays an important role advising 
members about legislation, standards, and industry practice, 
including the responsibilities of practitioners accredited under  
the Fire Protection Accreditation Scheme (FPAS). 

In general, we continue to offer technical support and advice in 
three ways: 

	\ responding to calls and emails from members; 
	\ monitoring topics on FPA Australia’s SPARK community of 

interest to provide answers where appropriate and required, or 
to correct misconceptions; and 

	\ developing technical documents, including ongoing work to 
update our Information Bulletin on evacuation diagrams, and 
new publications on polyurethane foams, occupant warning 
systems, and extinguisher agent replacement. 

Building regulation

FPA Australia continues to be a strong supporter of the Australian 
Building Codes Board (ABCB) and a participant in its Building Codes 
Committee (BCC). 

In the lead up to the release of the National Construction Code 
(NCC) 2022, we have been busier than ever, contributing to the 
content of the NCC, making submissions on proposed changes, 
and developing the latest versions of our FPAA101D and FPAA101H 
residential sprinkler Technical Specifications. 

We have also responded to the ABCB’s Building Confidence 
Report Implementation Team’s discussion papers on each of the 
recommendations from that report, providing a fire protection 
perspective on proposed changes and national standards. 

In addition, we have contributed to other key ABCB projects, such 
as the proposed Continuing Professional Development Framework. 

These activities are vital to the efficient functioning of building 
regulation in Australia, and FPA Australia takes this responsibility 
very seriously. 

Residential sprinklers

FY21 saw FPA Australia undertake a project to revise its Technical 
Specification FPAA101D and amend FPAA101H. 

These Technical Specifications were adopted into NCC 2019, and 
the Association committed to conducting a public review of each  
to ensure that they addressed the needs of users. 

A new committee—Technical Specification Advisory Group  
(TSAG-01)—was formed in late 2020, comprising both members  
and non-members, to take on the project. 

The changes for FPAA101D mainly: 
	\ addressed readability by changing it to the same format 

as FPAA101H, where the Technical Specification sets the 
requirements and then references applicable AS 2118.5 clauses 
as required; and 

	\ introduced a new sub-metered configuration to address 
jurisdictions where water usage must come under SOU water 
meters and not the common water meter. 

FPAA101H was amended to address situations where the 
requirements for the protection of relatively small non-Class 2 and 3 
parts of a building had an unexpected and significant impact on the 
requirements of the system that weren’t commensurate with the risk. 
These changes aligned such protection with the approach taken in 
FPAA101D. 

These documents received over 400 comments during 
consultation, and the final versions were submitted to the ABCB in 
late March, 2021, for possible adoption in NCC 2022. The outcome 
of the ABCB review is expected in the latter part of 2021. 
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Standards development

FPA Australia continues its ongoing representation on Standards 
Australia committees and in international forums, regularly lending 
our expertise to the work of over 20 standards committees. 

With NCC2022 close to finalisation, there was significant pressure 
on standards committees to finish their revisions of NCC referenced 
documents, and this affected standards such as: 

	\ AS 2419.1 Fire hydrant installations – System design, installation, 
and commissioning; and 

	\ AS 1670 Fire detection, warning, control, and intercom systems – 
System design, installation, and commissioning parts 1, 3 and 4. 

In addition, non-NCC referenced documents, such as a revision 
of AS 2118.2 Automatic fire sprinkler systems – Wall wetting 
sprinkler systems and a new Technical Specification on building 
commissioning (SA TS 5342) have also been published. 

Internally, FPA Australia has continued to work on potential project 
proposals for several revisions of Australian Standards and is 
currently reviewing over 300 comments received from members  
on our proposal for a revision of AS 1851. 

Licensing and accreditation

Licensing and accreditation of fire protection is being introduced 
across the country, and FPA Australia has been working to support 
practitioners and improve community safety: 

	\ in NSW, the Accreditation team has been managing the 
introduction of mandatory FPAS accreditation for fire safety 
assessors (FSA) and fire systems designers (FSD), with the 
continued support of the Technical team, which marked FSD 
papers, answered queries, and assisted with the auditing of 
practitioners and the resolution of complaints; 

	\ in Victoria, the Training team worked closely with the Victorian 
Building Authority to support the rollout of restricted licensing 
and encourage practitioners to get registered; and 

	\ in South Australia, we convinced the Government to grant 
extensions for practitioners to give them more time to comply 
with its incoming licensing requirements, given the outbreak  
of coronavirus at the time. 

Unfortunately, in Queensland, despite initial involvement 
in discussions about licensing, we were not included in the 
development of that State’s new licensing regime. We have, 
however, been engaging with the Queensland Building and 
Construction Commission to seek some extensions and hope to 
have success in achieving further changes in coming months. 

NSW reforms

The NSW Government has been pursuing an unprecedented level 
of reform during 2020 and 2021. This has partly been in response 
to the Building Confidence report, partly a reaction to high-profile 
building disasters such as Opal Towers in Homebush and Mascot 
Towers in southern Sydney, and partly due to the energy of the 
NSW Building Commissioner, David Chandler OAM. 

These reforms have included the rollout of an auditing program, 
where residential buildings are unable to get an occupancy 
certificate unless the Building Commissioner is satisfied; the 
introduction of regulations supporting the Design and Building 
Practitioners Act 2020, the results of work by the government’s 
six Pillars policy program, and a steering committee on fire safety 
regulation chaired by Michael Lambert. 

This drive for reform has generated a significant amount of work, 
but the involvement of FPA Australia and its members is delivering 
tangible solutions that are sure to improve fire protection in the state. 

PFAS foam changes

FY21 has seen further developments both locally and internationally 
to restrict the use of Per and Poly Fluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) for 
fire-fighting purposes to minimise the environmental damage from 
such materials. 

In March, 2021, the NSW Environmental Protection Agency 
introduced regulations to restrict the use of PFAS firefighting foams. 
These regulations, which were developed in consultation with FPA 
Australia, resulted in: 

	\ restrictions in long chain PFAS firefighting foams while still 
allowing the use of short-chain PFAS foams; 

	\ moves to eliminate PFAS foam extinguishers now that fluorine-
free foams are available; and 

	\ the prohibition on the use of PFAS firefighting foams for training 
and demonstrations. 

These positions align with FPA Australia’s Information Bulletin IB-06 
Selection of firefighting foams and our responses to the National 
PFAS Position Statement and other consultations. 

Internationally, there continues to be a push to eliminate the use 
of PFAS altogether (including short-chain PFAS firefighting foams); 
to restrict undecafluorohexanoic acid (PFHxA), its salts and related 
substances; and to eliminate all PFAS substances in line with the 
European Commission’s chemicals strategy released in October, 
2020, which will affect usage here. 

FPA Australia aims to ensure that suitable foams for the protection of 
life safety remain available for use until less environmentally damaging 
alternatives are developed that achieve similar effectiveness. 

Advocacy and Technical Continued...
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Member contributions

As with a lot of FPA Australia’s 
activities, our advocacy and 
technical leadership could not 
happen without the members who 
volunteer their time and expertise 
to support us. 

Our eight Technical Advisory 
Committees, consisting of more 
than 200 members, have continued 
to contribute to policy and 
standards development, helping 
to ensure that FPA Australia is 
arguing positions that are strongly 
grounded in industry practice. They 
also assist with the development 
and publication of standards and of 
FPA Australia technical documents. 

Our thanks, in particular, goes 
to all of our representatives on 
Standards Australia committees 
this year, especially those involved 
with the significant challenge of 
getting revisions and amendments 
together for adoption in the NCC 
2022, and to everyone who 
contributed to the work of the 
Technical team throughout the year. 
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Events 
Promoting industry 
knowledge. 

With ongoing uncertainty because of government 
coronavirus policies, FY21 saw the continuation 
of our strategy to move our events online, with a 
range of events aimed at addressing the needs of 
various segments of the fire protection industry. 
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The risk of lockdowns meant that in-person events were largely 
not an option, but the increased use of webinars expanded our 
audience and allowed practitioners to take part from anywhere in 
the country. 

Our webinar program has allowed us to develop a library of past 
events, enabling those practitioners who could not take part in the 
live event to purchase a ticket to see recordings. 

The one exception to the halt on in-person events was Fire 
Australia, which came back to Sydney in May and proceeded 
despite some last-minute government restrictions that threatened 
to derail it. It included, for the first time, the Fire Protection Industry 
Awards as part of the Conference dinner, allowing us to showcase 
industry excellence to a large number of delegates. 

However, other local events were not possible during the 
lockdowns and restrictions, but plans are underway to run several 
seminars in 2022 so that we can reconnect with our members. 

Webinars

As noted above, the ongoing pandemic prevented the traditional 
seminars run by FPA Australia from continuing, as governments 
imposed lockdowns and other restrictions and venues were unable 
to operate. 

The Events team, supported by Technical, moved its activity into the 
virtual world, taking advantage of video-conferencing programs to 
deliver webinars remotely, and recording them to allow those who 
missed an event to watch it later. 

These webinars covered a range of topics from technical matters 
on different fire protection systems and equipment to the rollout of 
FPAS to changes to legislation and standards.

The virtual format allowed for a larger audience pool than 
necessarily would have existed for an in-person event, and the 
value of webinars as a way of presenting to people in regional areas 
has been clearly demonstrated. 

The ability to pre-record the webinars and host them in a library 
has allowed those who could not attend at a certain time to view 
the event separately, and we will continue to make these types of 
recording available. 

This does not mean that webinars will be FPA Australia’s only model 
for events into the future, but we anticipate that there will be a mix of 
options going forward. 

With that said, our plans for local events in 2022 will provide 
opportunities for the interpersonal contact that cannot be achieved 
in the virtual world. 

Fire Australia Conference and Tradeshow

After the decision to cancel the Fire Australia Conference and 
Tradeshow back in 2020 due to increasing government restrictions, 
there were concerns for FY21 that our marquee event may again 
suffer the same fate. 

This almost came to pass, with the NSW Government introducing 
restrictions on events the weekend before the conference 
commenced, but we were able to adjust, and the conference 
proceeded largely unhindered. 

Set in Sydney’s International Convention Centre – the location of 
the previous year’s cancelled event – over 2,500 attendees across 
the three days, 80 exhibitors, and 9 sponsors made the event a 
great success. 

A 3D scan was created of the tradeshow and placed on our website, 
so that people could travel through a virtual version of the tradeshow 
and get information on the different stands, increasing the profile of 
each of the exhibitors. View the scan at bit.ly/tradeshow3d.

The program drew 56 speakers in 48 sessions, with parts of the 
program streamed to an international audience, covering everything 
from regulation reform, findings from major fires, technical sessions, 
and the Women in Fire stream that looked at encouraging more 
women into the industry. 

The Conference dinner incorporated the Fire Protection Industry 
Awards, which drew 420 attendees, even though no band was 
present and no dancing was allowed! 

Despite the gap of a year, the awards drew some impressive entries 
and showcased some of the leaders in the fire protection industry. 

The dinner also raised over $13k for the Fiona Wood Foundation, 
and we are pleased to continue our support for this fine 
organisation. 

The Conference wrapped up with tours of the CSIRO facility in 
North Ryde and the new NSW Emergency Services Academy out at 
Orchard Hills, including the Barry Lee Training Room, showing some 
of the leading facilities for testing and training in NSW. 

Fire Australia returns to the Melbourne Exhibition and Convention 
Centre in May, 2022. 
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Accreditation 
and Licensing
Providing certainty 
to clients and the 
community. 

The Fire Protection Accreditation Scheme (FPAS) 
was made mandatory in New South Wales in July, 
and FPA Australia has worked diligently to accredit 
practitioners, create a qualified pathway for entrants, 
and audit performance. 

Despite that priority, we have continued to fulfil our 
commitment to practitioners in other states and 
territories involved in routine servicing, cabling, and 
bushfire planning and design.
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FPAS Fire System Design (FSD)  
and Fire Safety Assessment (FSA)

On 1 July, 2020, FPA Australia was formally recognised as an 
accreditation authority by the Secretary of the NSW Department 
of Customer Service under section 59 of the Building and 
Development Certifiers Act 2018. 

The approval from the Secretary recognised the Association for the 
purposes of implementing the FPAS Fire Systems Design (FSD) and 
Fire Safety Assessment (FSA) categories of accreditation: 

	\ FSD accredits individuals who design relevant fire safety 
systems – currently fire sprinkler systems, fire hydrant and hose 
reel systems, and fire detection and alarm systems; and 

	\ FSA accredits individuals who assess the performance 
capability of fire safety measures for the purpose of informing 
an annual or supplementary fire safety statement. 

These roles are carried out by “Accredited Practitioners (Fire Safety)”, 
under the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. 

As an accreditation authority, FPA Australia is responsible for 
administering the scheme, managing registration, ensuring 
compliance, and recording FSD and FSA practitioners on the FPAS 
Register on behalf of the NSW Government, to provide easy access 
to information for clients. 

To this end, the Accreditation and Licensing team has been working 
hard throughout FY21 to: 

	\ accredit practitioners under the transitional pathway until that 
ceased on 30 June, 2021; 

	\ develop and launch the qualified pathway to accreditation for 
practitioners, which commenced on 1 July, 2021; 

	\ provide supporting materials and information for practitioners, 
to help them navigate the scheme; 

	\ present to applicants and accredited practitioners about details 
of the scheme and the processes supporting it; 

	\ coordinate and manage industry reference groups to inform 
submissions to the Government on possible changes to the 
scheme to reflect current practices and practitioners’ needs; 

	\ design and roll out the program for auditing practitioners and 
resolving complaints, to ensure that the integrity of the scheme 
was maintained; 

	\ develop a class of accreditation under the FSD category for the 
design of ducted smoke control systems; and 

	\ answering practitioner queries about both accreditation and 
the roles of designers and assessors to clarify any areas of 
uncertainty. 

The result has been impressive – 1,539 practitioners were 
accredited for FSA and 335 for FSD as of the end of June, 2021. 

Anecdotally, over the first 12 months following recognition of 
FPA Australia and FPAS, we have received regular reports from 
practitioners about changes in attitudes and a general acceptance 
that the poor practices of the past have to change in order to 
protect the community effectively. 

While we recognise that the scheme is mandatory in NSW, it is 
pleasing to see that practitioners have taken on the responsibility 
of gaining accreditation and committed to improving the 
professionalism of the industry. 

Auditing and complaints
As noted above, in January, 2021, FPA Australia commenced 
auditing practitioners. 

Under our agreement with the NSW Government, we must audit 
at least 10% of practitioners every year, as well as managing 
complaints and ensuring that there has been no cheating or 
inappropriate behaviour during exams. 

The results of these investigations were as follows: 

Audits 
	\ Total finalised by 30 June, 2021: 67

  – FSD accredited individuals audited: 15
  – FSA accredited individuals audited: 52

	\ Audit results: 
  – Notices of Decision issued: 16
  – No action required: 51

Complaints 
	\ Complaints about accredited individuals: 31

  – Complaints related to FSD: 1
  – Complaints related to FSA: 30

Investigation of exams 
	\ Number of students reviewed: 473

  – FSD candidates reviewed: 54
  – FSA candidates reviewed: 419

	\ Further review: 16
  – Candidate issued a warning email: 5
  – Candidate asked to show cause: 2
  – Candidate submitted to further monitoring: 5
  – No further action taken: 4
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FPAS Fire Systems Certification (FSC)

Over FY21, FPA Australia has continued to engage with the NSW 
Government in an effort to see the FPAS Fire Systems Certification 
(FSC) category added to the co-regulatory scheme. 

We are currently represented on the Steering Committee Advising 
the NSW Government on Reform of Fire Safety Regulations 
and Practice in Buildings, chaired by former Treasury Secretary 
Michael Lambert, which has now recommended that Fire Systems 
Certification be made mandatory. We will continue to work with  
the Government to identify what regulations need to change to 
bring it about. 

Unfortunately, with FSC not formally recognised in any jurisdictions, 
numbers fell to 14 in FY21. 

FPAS Inspect & Test (I&T)

Despite being a voluntary form of accreditation, Inspect and Test 
continues to be popular, with 1,794 practitioners accredited across 
the country, as at 30 June, 2021. 

Companies who only use accredited practitioners are called 
recognised businesses by FPA Australia, and get priority listing in 
our Provider of Choice service. In FY21, 100 companies qualified as 
recognised businesses. 

FPA Australia continues to promote the importance of using 
accredited practitioners for routine service work, through articles 
and presentations. Our message is that accreditation protects 
clients, by ensuring that practitioners are trained, insured, and 
committed to ethical standards.  

The strong support of Inspect and Test accreditation is a clear sign 
that the industry is committed to upholding professional standards 
and protecting their clients and the community. . 

Cabling Registration Scheme 

The Australian Communications and Media Authority (ACMA) 
requires technicians who undertake cabling work in relation to fire 
protection, security, and computer/data systems to be registered 
under the Telecommunications Cabling Provider Rules 2014. 

FPA Australia is one of only five organisations recognised by 
ACMA to run a cabling registration scheme and promotes industry 
compliance. 

As at 30 June, 2021, 2,811 were registered by the Association. 

Accreditation and Licensing Continued...

Bushfire Planning and Design (BPAD) 

The Bushfire Planning and Design Accreditation Scheme (BPAD) 
continues to be the only scheme that recognises the skills, 
knowledge, and experience of practitioners carrying out bushfire 
assessment, planning, design, and advice services. 

It accredits practitioners in New South Wales, Victoria, and Western 
Australia who meet criteria based on specific accreditation and 
competency requirements, including a detailed knowledge of the 
relevant planning, development, and building legislation for each 
state and territory. 

As well as administering the scheme, FPA Australia supports the 
industry through dedicated training on bushfire planning and 
assessment and auditing of practitioners. 

As at 30 June, 2020, 202 practitioners were accredited under BPAD.

20



3,682
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1,539
Fire Safety 
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335
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Design

14
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Certification
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Fire Protection 
Industry 
(ODS & SGG) 
Board
Protecting the 
environment from 
ozone depleting 
substances. 

The Fire Protection Industry (ODS and SGG) Board 
(FPIB) administers the fire protection industry permit 
scheme on behalf of the Australian Government. 
The program licenses and grants permits to 
individuals and businesses who handle, store, 
acquire, and dispose of extinguishing agents listed 
in Schedule 1 to the Ozone Protection and Synthetic 
Greenhouse Gas Management Act 1989 (the Act). 
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In its role, the FPIB: 
	\ identifies, promotes, and supports best practice activities in the 

fire protection industry; 
	\ manages the permit and licensing system to ensure applicants 

meet minimum standards of competency prior to gaining a 
licence; 

	\ communicates and consults with the industry to encourage and 
facilitate regulatory compliance; 

	\ develops and distributes learning and assessment resources 
about ozone depleting substances and synthetic greenhouse 
gases (ODS and SGG); and 

	\ reviews and audits practitioners to ensure ongoing compliance 
with the Act. 

During FY21, the FPIB once again focused on five key strategic 
areas: technology, compliance, industry engagement, discharge 
reporting, and training. 

Emerging technologies

This year, the FPIB gained a clearer picture of where the fire 
protection industry currently sits when it comes to transitioning 
from scheduled extinguishing agents to environmentally friendly 
alternatives, such as water mist, inert gas, and FK-5-1-12. This 
involved: 

	\ engaging with major suppliers of fire suppression technology  
to ascertain what they are observing at the market level; and 

	\ surveying permit holders to find out if they have transitioned  
to alternatives or are considering doing so. 

The survey, in particular, revealed an appetite amongst end users 
and suppliers to move away from traditional scheduled agents in 
favour of cleaner alternatives, where possible, thanks to shareholder 
pressure to be more environmentally conscious and the favourable 
cost of inert gases compared to HFCs such as FM-200. 

The FPIB will continue to promote the benefits of cleaner alternatives 
to help drive down the emissions of scheduled extinguishing agents. 

Better compliance

The FPIB’s compliance approach is weighted towards education 
and encouragement of practitioners to meet their legal obligations 
under the Ozone Protection and Synthetic Greenhouse Gas 
Regulations 1995 (the Regulations) and the conditions of their 
licence, permit, or authorisation. 

The Engagement and Training Assurance Officer works closely with 
the Department of Agriculture, Water, and the Environment to ensure 
serious breaches on non-compliance are investigated, and educates 
those in the industry who display non-compliant behaviour. 

Unfortunately, this work has been hampered by the Coronavirus 
pandemic, which prevented active field work and monitoring, 
meaning that education had to be delivered remotely, including: 

	\ reaching out to permit holders who held permits for more than 
three years to re-educate them on their obligations under the 
Regulations; and 

	\ reminding permit holders about our self-assessment checklists, 
which allow them to confirm that they are meeting the 
conditions of their licence, permit, or authorisation. 

In the coming year, the FPIB will launch a field engagement and 
monitoring pilot program involving visits to several fire protection 
companies, allowing us to establish a better presence in the 
industry and to engage more regularly with key stakeholders. 

Accurate discharge reporting

Between 1 July, 2020, and 30 June, 2021, 51 discharge incidents 
were reported to the Department of Agriculture, Water, and the 
Environment and its Office of Compliance Branch. This likely only 
represents a small proportion of the true number of incidents, 
and the FPIB plans to focus on increasing awareness about the 
requirement to report, improving due diligence, and overcoming  
a fear of prosecution or financial penalty. 

This revolves around the ability to prevent discharges – roughly 
40 percent of reported incidents were avoidable, occurring because 
technicians made simple errors, such as not isolating fire systems 
properly or knocking activation points. 

While the causes are somewhat concerning, it is reassuring to know 
that the risk of such events might be reduced with education. To 
help inform the industry, the FPIB has provided ongoing education 
and targeted communication materials such as our flyer: ‘Tips to 
prevent a discharge’. 

In 2020-21, we made huge inroads with the Department of Defence, 
helping them to improve the reporting of both new and historical 
discharge incidents. This increased engagement has helped the 
Department to create a new internal system of reporting, which will 
improve accuracy in future. 

This year we also adopted a more proactive approach to working 
with the maritime sector, engaging directly with the Australian 
Maritime Safety Authority (AMSA), which was kind enough to publish 
an article in its Survey Matters newsletter to advise accredited 
marine surveyors to report discharge incidents on domestic 
commercial vessels. 
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Increased industry engagement

A particularly critical component to the FPIB’s overall strategic plan 
is engaging with key industry stakeholders, including licensed 
technicians, traders of scheduled extinguishing agents, and external 
industries that contract fire protection technicians. 

To this end, we are always mindful of the importance of covering 
all of the major sectors that rely on fire suppression technology 
containing scheduled agents such as mining, aviation, building, 
major facilities, transport, and maritime. 

This year we undertook a raft of engagement activities, such as: 
	\ working with and educating fire services around Australia 

to accept portable halon cylinders from members of the 
community; 

	\ establishing a business recognition program to acknowledge 
industry leaders that have transitioned to environmentally 
cleaner alternatives; 

	\ advertising at a major mining conference in Western Australia, 
to promote licensing requirements under the Regulations; and 

	\ implementing a targeted awareness campaign aimed at 
operators and owners of domestic commercial vessels, 
informed by AMSA accredited marine surveyors. 

We also created an official FPIB LinkedIn account to increase our 
virtual presence and engage with our stakeholders. 

Expanded training

Over 2020-21, the FPIB remained in constant dialogue with major 
registered training organisations (RTOs), particularly those who 
deliver extinguishing agent handling licence training, to identify 
any obvious issues with course delivery, units of competency, and 
general succession rates. Fortunately, nothing of significant concern 
was reported back. 

We also provided a platform on our website for people who had 
recently completed training to report any issues they experienced 
during their training, but nothing was raised. 

Moving into 2021-22, we will continue to monitor accessibility to 
fire protection training for those seeking it and will engage with the 
major skills service organisations to detect any potential changes to 
units of competency relevant to our licences. 

Break down of different licence categories

Despite the uncertainty surrounding the Coronavirus pandemic over 
the past year, and ongoing challenges associated with lockdowns 
around Australia, permit numbers have remained steady. 

There was a slight increase in the number of technicians holding 
an extinguishing agent handling licence (EAHL) from 1,178 in June, 
2020, to 1,260 in June, 2021, a rise of 7.0%. 

The number of companies holding a halon special permit (HSP) or 
an extinguishing agent trading authorisation (EATA) has remained 
virtually the same over the past year, with a decrease of only two 
licences in each category. 

Considering licences must be renewed every 2-3 years, there  
will always be a natural fluctuation depending on how many are  
up for renewal at any one time. However, despite the uncertain 
economic and social climate, there still appears to be strong 
demand amongst fire technicians who handle scheduled 
extinguishing agents for licensing. 

Fire Protection Industry (ODS & SGG) Board Continued...

EAHL holders as at June 2021

 41 Trainee
 131 Experienced
 1,260 Qualified
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EAHL number comparison between 2006 and 2021

EATA and HSP number comparison between 2008 and 2021

Jun-08 Jun-09 Jun-10 Jun-11 Jun-12 Jun-13 Jun-14 Jun-15 Jun-16 Jun-17 Jun-18 Jun-19 Jun-20 Jun-21

Qualified EAHL 0 0 3 19 51 97 177 587 948 1,082 1,137 1,161 1,178 1,260

Experienced EAHL 929 923 1,088 1,178 1,271 1,238 1,154 599 160 146 133 126 130 131

Trainee EAHL 43 56 142 108 73 71 81 69 30 26 33 46 49 41
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Training and 
Bushfire 
Services
Training future 
fire practitioners. 

A combination of restrictions and staffing 
challenges caused our training program to 
suffer some setbacks in FY21, as we adjusted  
to the changing conditions. 

The Training team has been working to increase 
capacity and improve the student experience 
by introducing remote learning and assessment 
and blending it with face-to-face training. 

The ultimate goal is to deliver flexible options 
for students and improve our training capability. 
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A new approach

In the last few months of the financial year, the Training team 
was refreshed with new faces and a renewed commitment to our 
students. It has conducted a root-and-branch review of the RTO, 
focused on training quality and compliance, and has pursued 
recommendations aimed at delivering practical training targeted  
at the needs of the industry. 

The main result has been an overhaul of our philosophy, facilitating 
the transfer of knowledge from experienced practitioners to the 
next generation. 

The Training team is now working with experienced industry 
practitioners to prepare them to become trainers and assessors,  
to bring more subject matter expertise to the RTO. 

With the pandemic accelerating acceptance of remote learning  
and assessment across the training space, we are now moving 
towards introducing blended (online and face to face) training  
next year. 

The introduction of new online learning delivery platforms will 
enable the Training team to improve student support and enhance 
the overall learning experience. 

Training advocacy

FPA Australia participates in Commonwealth Government appointed 
committees and advisory groups working on training packages for 
the fire protection industry. 

In January, 2021, one of these forums – the Property Services 
Industry Reference Committee – upgraded the qualifications for 
Certificates II and III in Fire Protection Inspection and Testing.  
These are deemed equivalent to the previous qualifications. 

Our goal with participating in these forums continues to be the 
adoption of new qualifications that will deliver a better trained 
industry and offer clearly defined career pathways for those 
undertaking routine service activities. 

Bushfire services

FPA Australia works closely with governments, agencies, and 
bushfire practitioners around Australia to develop and implement 
effective bushfire building and planning policies. 

We do this in part through Bushfire Working Groups (BWGs) 
currently in place in each of the three jurisdictions where the 
BPAD Scheme operates. These are comprised of representatives 
of BPAD practitioners, fire agencies, planning departments local 
government, and industry stakeholders. 

Our bushfire design training continues to be popular. Over FY21, we 
ran several courses and webinars, including: 

	\ five-day Bushfire Attack Level (BAL) Assessment training 
courses in WA and Melbourne; 

	\ two-day Bushfire Awareness Courses in WA; 
	\ our first ever hybrid-style professional development event  

in NSW; and 
	\ a number of webinars promoting BPAD practitioners. 

This year we formally appointed a Bushfire Services Manager, 
to place greater emphasis on this important area of policy and 
practitioner accreditation. 

FireMaps and FLAMESOL

FPA Australia continues to offer a range of tools and calculators for 
bushfire consultants that help to improve their planning and design 
work in bushfire-prone areas.

During FY21 we continued to develop our FireMaps product, adding 
new layers and extra functionality to improve mapping.

Our FLAMESOL product continues to be popular, providing 
calculators and lookup tools to help consultants to improve their 
designs. 

These tools are constantly improved in consultation with the 
industry to ensure they provide the technical support practitioners 
need to create safer properties. 
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Training rooms

In FY21, FPA Australia opened two training rooms – one in Sydney, 
one in Melbourne – that will improve our ability to deliver face-to-
face training. 

Barry Lee Training Room, Sydney
After a considerable amount of planning, preparation, and 
construction work, the Barry Lee Training Room finally opened. 

This shared training facility, located in the grounds of Fire and 
Rescue NSW’s (FRNSW) Orchard Hills Essential Services Academy, 
was launched on 30 April, 2021, by the NSW Minister for Police and 
Emergency Services, the Hon. David Elliott MP. 

A large group of dignitaries and donors assembled 
at the Academy to witness the launching of the 
Barry Lee Training Room, named after an icon of the 
industry and FPA Australia’s first president. 

The Training Room is the first of its kind – a 
dedicated facility that showcases a range of 
equipment covering wet and dry fire systems—and 
is the product of significant collaboration between 
FPA Australia and FRNSW. It provides equipment that 
will enable both organisations to train fire protection 
practitioners and fire fighters alike on the types of 
system likely to be found within Australian buildings. 

The room was officially opened in the presence of 
Fire Commissioner Paul Baxter AFSM; Mrs Tanya 
Davies MP, Member for Mulgoa; FPA Australia 
President Bill Lea AFSM; and Mr Barry Lee OAM, our founding 
president, after whom the facility has been named. 

FPA Australia thanks the Minister for launching our facility, and 
acknowledges Mr Lee for his significant contribution to the fire 
protection industry. 

To see a 3D-scan of the new facility, visit: bit.ly/trainingroom3d. 

Training and Bushfire Services Continued...

	\ 2020 Fire Protection
	\ 2Link Innovations
	\ ADT Fire + Monitoring
	\ Aline Pumps
	\ Ampac Pty Ltd
	\ Bermad Water Technologies
	\ Brooks Australia Pty Ltd
	\ Challenger Valves and Actuators/ 

Cla-Val Pacific Limited
	\ Clevertronics

	\ Dobbie Dico Meter Co. (WA) Pty Ltd
	\ Emerson
	\ FireSense
	\ ForceFire
	\ Gould Instruments Pty Ltd
	\ Hochiki Australia Pty Ltd
	\ Honeywell - Xtralis Pty Ltd
	\ Incite Fire Pty Ltd
	\ Independent Pipe Fabrication
	\ Johnson Controls Australia Pty Ltd

	\ Kidde Australia Pty Ltd
	\ Newsound Fire Services Pty Ltd
	\ Pertronic Industries Pty Limited
	\ Reece Group
	\ Reliable Fire Sprinkler (Australia) 

Pty Ltd
	\ Romteck Grid Pty Ltd
	\ Siemens Ltd
	\ Victaulic Australia Pty Ltd
	\ Viking

Thanks to our donors
The following contributors helped us to fit out of both of these training spaces: 

FPA Australia would like to thank all of our suppliers and installers and thank them for their significant contribution 
to training the fire protection sector. Without them neither training room would have been possible. 

Melbourne Training Room
The facility in Sydney is not our only new training space, with the 
opening of a dedicated room in our premises in Melbourne. 

The room has been decked out with fire alarm and detection 
equipment and EWIS panels, to allow the delivery of part of the 
Certificate II in Fire Protection Inspection and Testing. 
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Attending the opening of the Barry Lee Training Room, from left to right: Fire Commissioner Paul Baxter AFSM, FRNSW;  
the Hon. David Elliott MP, Minister for Police and Emergency Services; Bill Lea AFSM, President, FPA Australia;  

Mrs Tanya Davies, Member for Mulgoa; Mr Barry Lee OAM; and Mrs Lorraine Lee. 
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Communications
The leading source 
of fire protection 
information. 

Throughout FY21, FPA Australia continued to expand 
its reach and promote news and information to the 
fire protection industry. 

These activities have been bolstered by an increased 
presence on social media, a significant expansion in 
electronic communications, and the appointment of 
an additional communications specialist. 

Our main vehicles – Fire Australia magazine, 
FireSignals, member communications – continue to 
be the focus of our activity, but we are responsive 
to media inquiries and regularly write fire protection 
content for other publications. 

The goal of our communications plan is to 
provide relevant information to our members and 
stakeholders and to promote the activities of FPA 
Australia to the broader community.
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Fire Australia 2021

This year, the Communications team put considerable effort into 
promoting Fire Australia 2021, through social media during the event 
and by releasing a daily summary email, to recap it for attendees 
and highlight proceedings for those who couldn’t make it. 

These highlight emails were sent first thing each morning 
summarising the previous day, with linked content posted on the 
website for those who wanted to read more. 

The emails had a reasonable average open rate of around 23% 
for those emails that went to the broader database, while the 
conference dinner email was sent to a dedicated conference mailing 
list and was opened by 52.2% of recipients. 

Our social media activity during the event was prodigious, with 58 
Twitter posts, 15 on LinkedIn, 12 on Facebook, and 26 on Instagram. 

Each presentation was the subject of a tweet on Twitter, including 
a photo, so that a key message of each presenter could be 
emphasised close to their delivery, and many of these were liked, 
shared, or retweeted. 

Industry and member communications

Fire Australia is our main communications tool, allowing us to 
promote our activities and articles of relevance to the fire  
protection sector. 

FireSignals is our monthly e-newsletter series, which allows us 
to keep up to 15,000 members and stakeholders informed about 
recent developments in the industry. 

Emails are sent regularly to our database, mostly to highlight single 
issues of relevance to members or to promote events and other 
products to members. 

Social media is used to highlight key issues and reinforce our 
messaging used in other vehicles. 

SPARK is our online forum for members to share information 
about the industry and seek guidance from their peers. FPA 
Australia monitors these discussions and engages on issues where 
appropriate. 

FPA Australia TV, our YouTube channel, is a platform for videos on 
fire safety topics, but has not been used much over the last financial 
year. We are currently identifying content that can be uploaded. 

These tools provide FPA Australia with a platform for reaching its 
stakeholders and maintaining an understanding about fire safety 
and developments within the fire protection industry. 

Fire Australia Magazine 

The quarterly magazine 
reaches over 5,000 recipients 
across the fire protection 
industry and is strongly 
supported by contributors and 
advertisers alike. 

Published in partnership with 
AFAC (the National Council 
for fire and emergency 
services) and the Bushfire 
and Natural Hazards 
Collaborative Research 
Centre, the magazine 
covered a variety of 
topics relevant to the fire 
protection sector. 

These included stories 
about major events or 
incidents, new products or 
innovations, product conformity, 
changes to the industry, new 
tools and research to support fire 
fighters, fire risk management, 
leadership and diversity, and 
techniques to support fire 
fighters’ mental health, amongst 
other topics. 

FireSignals

While FireSignals continued to be delivered every month during FY21, 
feedback from members suggested that more contact was needed. 

So, in March, we decided to expand FireSignals to create a suite 
of monthly emails covering a range of themes: training, technical, 
bushfire, accreditation, advocacy, engagement, events, and a 
JobsBoard email. 

This allowed us to provide information specific to the particular 
categories, which meant that recipients could decide which 
communications they wished to receive. 

The change has resulted in improved click through and open rates, 
and higher website traffic for FPA Australia and our advertisers, and 
has significantly increased our level of contact with the membership. 
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Social media

FPA Australia has been embracing social media and has boosted its 
presence in FY21 across our main platforms of Facebook, Instagram, 
LinkedIn, and Twitter. 

This has created more opportunity to promote our activities and 
events, share news and information, and drive traffic to our website. 

We have had the most success on our LinkedIn account, where the 
majority of people prefer to connect with the organisation, followed 
by Facebook. LinkedIn delivered an average of 440 page views,  
181 unique visitors, and roughly 100 new followers per month. 

We have traditionally had less engagement through Instagram 
and Twitter, but have started to use these more often, especially 
throughout the annual conference, because they are more likely to 
reach younger industry participants. During Fire Australia 2021, we 
saw more engagement and increased our numbers of followers, and 
this trend continued into June. 

Industry promotion

FPA Australia staff present regularly to other industry groups and 
stakeholders on fire safety topics and the communications team 
provides content to trade journals for fire protection, construction, 
facility management, architecture, strata management, the pump 
industry and waste management—even the child care and school 
communities. 

We have also worked with other industry bodies and regulators 
such as the Australian Building Codes Board, the Owners 
Corporation Network, the Australian Construction Industry Forum, 
and many others, to develop content and promote the industry. 

Communications Continued...

Media engagement

FPA Australia has taken a low-key approach to media in FY21, as 
we adjusted to a new structure and developed a communications 
strategy. 

Our plans for 2022 and beyond will be to use media strategically to 
highlight issues of concern and to improve our brand to become the 
go-to organisation for commentary on fire safety. 

Marketing

With increased resourcing, the team has been turning attention to 
improving marketing and promoting the activities of the Association. 

A marketing strategy is being developed, supporting our 
communications plan, to enhance our targeted promotion of  
FPA Australia. 

We are working with each team on its priorities and will start rolling 
out our campaigns starting early in 2022. 

SPARK

Our SPARK community of interest has seen increased traffic over 
FY21. Accredited practitioners (fire safety) in NSW have seen it as 
a useful forum to ask questions about their craft and share their 
perspectives.  

In 2022, we hope to encourage other segments of the industry 
to adopt the forum, so that it can become a good resource for fire 
practitioners. 
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Principal activities

FPA Australia’s vision is for a safer community where the loss 
of life, injury, and damage to property and the environment are 
eliminated through effective fire protection. 

As the peak body for the fire protection industry, FPA Australia 
represents and supports our members, and works with 
government, business, and other stakeholders to: 

	\ promote a world class fire protection industry; 
	\ deliver education and direction on industry best practice; 
	\ develop, maintain and recognise professional competence 

and conduct; 
	\ create and deliver career pathways; 
	\ provide relevant business services, resources and networking; 
	\ advocate to government and other stakeholders for 

continuous improvement of policy, legislation, codes, and 
standards; and 

	\ invest in research and advocacy to develop and implement 
improved fire protection. 

Directors’ 
Report
The Directors are pleased to present the report 
and financial statements of Fire Protection 
Association Australia (“FPA Australia” or “the 
Association”) for the year ended 30 June, 2021. 

Directors

The Directors in office during the period of 1 July, 2020, to 30 June, 
2021, were:

Board Member Tenure Responsibilities

Bill Lea Director from 2009 President
Elected Director
Ex Officio on all 
Committees

Rhondel 
Johannessen

Director from 2012 
until November, 2020

Vice President
Elected Director 

Russell Porteous Director from 2019 Vice President (from 
November, 2020)
Elected Director

Rob Broadhead Director from 
November, 2020

Elected Director

Patrick Conway Director from 
November, 2020

Elected Director

Elissa Fazio Director from 2018 Elected Director

Bob Grieve Director from 
November, 2020

Elected Director

David Isaac Director from 2019 Elected Director
Resigned 
September, 2020

John Lynch Director from August, 
2020

Co-opted Director
Member of the FAR 
Committee

Stuart Yarnall Director from August, 
2020

Co-opted Director
Chair of the FAR 
Committee

The directors have been in office since the start of the financial year 
to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

Company Secretary

FPA Australia’s former Company Secretary, CEO Scott Williams, 
departed the Association on 8 April, 2020. 

At that time, responsibility for corporate governance was taken on 
by the President, Bill Lea, and Director, Russell Porteous. 

In addition to other duties, they each held the role of Co-Company 
Secretary until January, 2021, when Edna Coetzee was appointed 
as the Company Secretary of FPA Australia.
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Board meetings

The following table sets out the number of meetings of the 
Association’s Board during the year ended 30 June, 2021, and the 
attendance by the Directors and the Company Secretary.

Board Member
Number eligible  

to attend
Number  
attended

Bill Lea 25 24

Rhondel Johannessen 7 4

Russell Porteous 25 24

Rob Broadhead 18 18

Patrick Conway 18 18

Elissa Fazio 25 22

Bob Grieve 18 17

David Isaac 4 3

John Lynch 22 21

Stuart Yarnall 22 20

Edna Coetzee 16 16

Board Committee

At its meeting of 27 May, 2021, the Board resolved, pursuant to the 
Association’s Constitution, to establish a Finance, Audit, and Risk 
(FAR) Committee. 

The purpose of this committee is to assist the Board with the 
exercise of due care, diligence, risk, and skill in relation to 
the financial management, reporting responsibilities, and risk 
management of the Association. 

The FAR Committee consists of two Directors, one of whom is the 
Chair, with the President in an ex-officio capacity. FPA Australia’s 
Chief Executive Officer (or the Chief Operating Officer) and the 
Finance and Corporate Manager attend by invitation. 

The following table sets out the number of meetings of the FAR 
Committee held during the year ended June, 2021, and attendance 
by the Committee Members. 

Committee Member
Number eligible  

to attend
Number  
attended

Stuart Yarnall (Chair) 3 3

John Lynch 3 3

Bill Lea (President, ex-officio) 3 0

John Clampett 
(by invitation – from June, 2021)

3 2

Nathan Semos 
(by invitation – until June, 2021)

3 3

Andrew Kendt (by invitation) 3 3

Romel Sarmiento (observer) 3 2

Edna Coetzee (secretariat) 3 3

Corporate Governance

Fire Protection Association Australia is regulated by the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission as a registered charity 
under the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 
2012 (Cth) (ACNC Act). 

The Association is also registered as a public company limited by 
guarantee under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), which means that 
the Corporations Act applies but is modified by the ACNC Act. 

The Directors are committed to the accountability and transparency 
of the Association’s corporate governance framework, with the aim 
to comply with the law and regulations and to fulfil FPA Australia’s 
charitable purpose. 

To this end, the Board oversees the determination and 
implementation of policies and processes that reflect good 
corporate governance. 

One example related to the need for governance training of Board 
Directors. At a meeting on 10 June, 2021, the Board resolved that: 

	\ all board members should attend one of two proposed 
Corporate Governance courses. All Directors chose to 
complete the Certificate in Governance and Risk Management 
provided by the Governance Institute of Australia, and were 
enrolled before the end of June, 2021; and 

	\ By-Law 2 of the Association should be amended to require 
all future elected and appointed Directors, who do not have 
relevant experience or training relating to governance, risk 
management, and compliance, to complete a course (as 
determined by the Board and paid for by the FPA Australia) 
within the first three months of election or appointment. 

The ACNC was informed of this amendment to By-Law 2 on 
30 June, 2021. 

Key performance indicators

To help evaluate whether the activities the Association established 
during the year have achieved its objectives, the Association uses 
the following key performance indicators to measure, analyse, and 
monitor its performance: 

	\ the total number of members; 
	\ financial performance against set budgets; 
	\ the total quantity of accredited practitioners; 
	\ increased awareness of the need for registered and accredited 

practitioners working within the broader fire protection industry; 
	\ the level of legislative change that improves fire protection 

within the community; and 
	\ better quality building outcomes that lead to consumer 

confidence in the building and construction industry. 
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Impact of Coronavirus on the association

The ongoing global Coronavirus pandemic made its presence felt 
throughout FY21, as governments increasingly introduced wide-
ranging restrictions and lockdowns. 

In response, in March, 2020, FPA Australia developed Coronavirus 
guidelines and a Working from Home policy and stopped all staff 
travel, while we assessed the implications for the Association. 

When office number restrictions, and then a stay-at-home order, 
were introduced in Victoria in response to a quarantine breach in 
May and June, 2020, we moved to all staff working from home and 
set everyone up with the equipment they needed to do so. The 
Government’s restrictions eventually became a 112-day lockdown 
and, even when it formally ended in October, restrictions on office 
numbers continued well into the new year. 

The Victorian lockdown significantly affected the operations of 
our National Office and the Executive focused on maintaining staff 
morale and ensuring that we could operate effectively in the virtual 
space. However, there were some limitations placed on our work 
by the stay-at-home order, particularly in relation to answering calls 
and emails from stakeholders, which were increasing significantly 
with the introduction of mandatory accreditation. 

Uncertainty with Government policy continued to be an issue 
throughout the 2020-21 financial year, and the Association had to 
make a judgement call about whether our conference in May would 
proceed. Fortunately, despite new NSW restrictions coming in the 
weekend before Fire Australia 2021, we managed to adapt, and the 
conference proceeded. 

Our other events, which moved online in May, 2020, have become a 
fixture throughout the financial year, with a couple of webinars held 
per month on a variety of topics. These have continued to be popular. 

The full impact of the pandemic on FPA Australia will not be fully 
quantifiable for some time, but the Association continues to be 
adaptable in the face of changing restrictions. Our staff are used 
to working from home, and our capacity to respond to inquiries is 
increasing constantly. We expect to return to normal activities once 
restrictions are lifted and the National Office can be formally reopened. 

Association wind up

As the Association is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 
and limited by guarantee, members are required to contribute a 
maximum of $10 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations 
of the entity, should it be wound up. 

As of 30 June, 2021, the total number of members was 1,870, so the 
combined total amount that members are liable to contribute if the 
company is wound up is $18,700. 

Auditors independent declaration

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration under Division 
60-40 of the ACNC Act, in relation to the audit for the financial year, 
is provided with this report. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Bill Lea – President Russell Porteous – Vice President

Directors’ Report Continued...

Auditor’s 
independence 
declaration
Under section 307c of the 
Corporations Act 2001 to the 
directors of Fire Protection 
Association Australia

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the 
year ended 30 June 2021 there have been:

1. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements 
as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; 
and

2. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional 
conduct in relation to the audit.

Kidmans Partners Audit Pty Ltd

Heinz Mai 
Director

Dated 1st November 2021

Melbourne

Dated this 1st of November, 2021
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Statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income 
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

Revenue from contracts with customers 2 9,528,905 7,536,557

Government grants – COVID-19 2 295,500 909,279

Other income 2 10,416 30,016

9,834,821 8,475,852

Cost of sales 3 (5,003,476) (4,477,918)

Administration expenses (1,230,077) (1,442,320)

Distribution expenses (179) (565)

Marketing expenses (30,796) (60,010)

Occupancy expenses (96,533) (107,622)

Borrowing costs 3 (20,393) (26,174)

Consulting expenses (163,591) (70,029)

Depreciation and amortisation 3 (676,074) (576,798)

Other expenses (247,036) (610,678)

Profit before income tax 2,366,666 1,103,738

Income tax (expense) / benefit  –  –

Profit for the year attributable to members of the entity 2,366,666 1,103,738

Other comprehensive income  –  –

Total other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 2,366,666 1,103,738

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to members 2,366,666 1,103,738
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Statement of financial position 
As at 30 June 2021

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4 8,138,199 4,390,515

Trade and other receivables 5 119,036 997,016

Inventories 6 9,141 15,166

Other assets 7 141,204 125,382

Total current assets 8,407,580 5,528,079

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 8 243,930 218,385

Right-of-use assets 9 321,358 562,376

Intangible assets 10 26,556 344,960

Total non-current assets 591,844 1,125,721

Total assets 8,999,424 6,653,800

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 743,893 652,452

Borrowings 12 436 11,923

Lease liabilities 13 274,204 264,787

Provisions 15 243,913 285,866

Other liabilities 14 3,183,633 3,015,000

Total current liabilities 4,446,079 4,230,028

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 13 118,218 367,757

Provisions 15 32,534 20,088

Total non-current liabilities 150,752 387,845

Total liabilities 4,596,831 4,617,873

Net assets 4,402,593 2,035,927

Member's funds
Accumulated surplus 4,402,593 2,035,927

Total equity 4,402,593 2,035,927
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Statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Member’s Funds 
$

Total 
$

Balance at 1 July 2019 932,189 932,189

Comprehensive Income

Profit for the year attributable to members of the entity 1,103,738 1,103,738

Other comprehensive income for the year  –  –

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,103,738 1,103,738

Balance at 30 June 2020 2,035,927 2,035,927

Balance at 1 July 2020 2,035,927 2,035,927

Comprehensive Income

Profit for the year attributable to members of the entity 2,366,666 2,366,666

Other comprehensive income for the year  –  –

Total comprehensive income for the year 2,366,666 2,366,666

Balance at 30 June 2021 4,402,593 4,402,593
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Statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note 2021 
$

2020 
$

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 11,633,070 9,270,548

Payments to suppliers and employees (7,481,603) (7,432,640)

Interest received 10,416 30,016

Finance costs (20,393) (26,174)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 17 4,141,490 1,841,750

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (140,471) (35,692)

Purchase of intangible assets (1,726) (82,908)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (142,197) (118,600)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from (repayments of) borrowings (11,487) (11,315)

Lease repayments – principal (240,122) (230,290)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (251,609) (241,605)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held 3,747,684 1,481,545

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 4,390,515 2,908,970

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 4 8,138,199 4,390,515
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Note 1: Statement of significant 
accounting policies

The directors have determined that the company is not a reporting 
entity on the basis that, in the opinion of the directors, there are 
unlikely to exist users of the financial report who are unable to 
command the preparation of reports tailored so as to satisfy, 
specifically, all of their information needs. Accordingly, this financial 
report is a special purpose financial report, which has been 
prepared to satisfy the financial reporting requirements of the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012.

The financial report covers Fire Protection Association Australia 
as an individual entity. Fire Protection Association Australia is a 
company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia. Fire Protection Association Australia is a not-for-profit 
entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.

The financial report was approved by the directors as at the date of 
the directors’ report.

The financial report has been prepared in accordance with the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, 
the recognition and measurement requirements specified by all 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and the 
disclosure requirements of:

	\ AASB 101:  Presentation of Financial Statements
	\ AASB 107: Cash Flow Statements
	\ AASB 108:  Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors
	\ AASB 1054: Australian Additional Disclosures

The following specific accounting policies, which are consistent with 
the previous period unless otherwise stated, have been adopted in 
the preparation of this financial report:

(a) Basis of preparation of the financial report
  Historical Cost Convention 
   The financial report has been prepared under the historical cost 

convention, as modified by revaluations to fair value for certain 
classes of assets and liabilities as described in the accounting 
policies.

   Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
Since the declaration by the World Health Organisation on 
11 March 2020, of the Coronavirus as a pandemic, there has 
been a significant impact on local and world economies. This 
pandemic may have an impact on the financial position and may 
affect financial performance of the company in the future.

(b) Going concern
   The financial report has been prepared on a going concern 

basis, which contemplates continuity of normal business 
activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of 
liabilities in the ordinary course of business.

(c) Income tax
   No provision for income tax has been raised as the company is 

exempt from income tax under Division 50 of the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997.

(d) Revenue
   Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the significant 

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to 
the buyer and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of 
the transaction can be measured reliably. Risks and rewards of 
ownership are considered passed to the buyer at the time of 
delivery of the goods to the customer.

   Membership & Subscription fees are recognised on a basis that 
reflects the timing, nature and value of the benefit provided 
if the fee entitles the member to services or publications to 
be provided during the membership period, or to purchase 
goods or services at prices lower than those charged to non-
members. Membership & Subscriptions revenue is recognised 
only to the extent that the membership benefit is provided in a 
given financial period.

   Revenue from organising and hosting events is recognised in 
the period in which the events are held.

   Revenue for the provision of Education and Training services 
is recognised in the reporting periods in which the services 
are rendered by reference to the stage of completion of the 
services provided. The stage of completion is determined by 
the proportion that costs incurred to date bear to the estimated 
total costs of the transaction.

   Licencing and Accreditation revenue is recognised in the 
reporting period in which the licence or accreditation is 
applicable to by reference to the period they cover.

   All revenue is measured net of the amount of goods and 
services tax (GST).

(e) Employee benefits
  (i)  Short-term employee benefit obligations 

 Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual 
leave and other employee benefits (other than termination 
benefits) expected to be settled wholly before twelve 
months after the end of the reporting period are measured 
at the (undiscounted) amounts based on remuneration rates 
which are expected to be paid when the liability is settled. 
The expected cost of short-term employee benefits in the 
form of compensated absences such as annual leave is 
recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All other 
short-term employee benefit obligations are presented as 
payables in the statement of financial position.

Notes to the financial 
statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2021
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Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies (Continued) 

   (ii)  Long-term employee benefit obligations 
The provision for other long-term employee benefits, 
including obligations for long service leave and annual 
leave, which are not expected to be settled wholly before 
twelve months after the end of the reporting period, are 
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflow to be made in respect of the services provided 
by employees up to the reporting date. Expected future 
payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary 
levels, durations of service and employee turnover, and 
are discounted at rates determined by reference to market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on government 
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the 
benefits will be paid. Any remeasurements for changes in 
assumptions of obligations for other long-term employee 
benefits are recognised in profit or loss in the periods in 
which the change occurs.

    Other long-term employee benefit obligations are 
presented as current liabilities in the statement of financial 
position if the company does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the 
reporting date, regardless of when the actual settlement 
is expected to occur. All other long-term employee benefit 
obligations are presented as non-current liabilities in the 
statement of financial position.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents
   Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at banks, 

short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or 
less held at call with financial institutions, and bank overdrafts. 
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current 
liabilities in the statement of financial position.

(g) Inventories
   Inventories held for sale are measured at the lower of cost and 

net realisable value.

(h) Financial instruments
   Classification of financial assets 

Financial assets recognised by the company are subsequently 
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair 
value, subject to their classification and whether the company 
irrevocably designates the financial asset on initial recognition 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) in 
accordance with the relevant criteria in AASB 9.

   Financial assets not irrevocably designated on initial 
recognition at FVTOCI are classified as subsequently measured 
at amortised cost, FVTOCI or fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL) on the basis of both:

  (a)  the company’s business model for managing the financial 
assets; and

  (b)  the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial 
asset.

   Classification of financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities classified as held-for-trading, contingent 
consideration payable by the company for the acquisition of 
a business, and financial liabilities designated at FVtPL, are 
subsequently measured at fair value.

   All other financial liabilities recognised by the company are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

   Impairment of financial assets 
The following financial assets are tested for impairment by 
applying the ‘expected credit loss’ impairment model:

  (a)  receivables from contracts with customers, contract assets 
and lease receivables.

   The company applies the simplified approach under AASB 9 
to measuring the allowance for credit losses for receivables 
from contracts with customers, contract assets and lease 
receivables. Under the AASB 9 simplified approach, the 
company determines the allowance for credit losses for 
receivables from contracts with customers, contract assets and 
lease receivables on the basis of the lifetime expected credit 
losses of the financial asset. Lifetime expected credit losses 
represent the expected credit losses that are expected to result 
from default events over the expected life of the financial asset.

(i) Property, plant and equipment
   Each class of plant and equipment is measured at cost or fair 

value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated impairment losses.

   Plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation.

   Depreciation 
Land is not depreciated. The depreciable amount of all 
other property, plant and equipment is depreciated over 
their estimated useful lives commencing from the time the 
asset is held available for use, consistent with the estimated 
consumption of the economic benefits embodied in the asset.

Class of fixed
Depreciation  
rates

Depreciation  
basis

Leasehold improvements 10%-20% Straight line

Office equipment 10%-40% Straight line & 
Diminishing Value

Furniture, fixtures & fittings 10%-33% Straight line

(j) Research and development expenditure
   Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense 

when incurred.

   Development costs are capitalised when the company can 
demonstrate all of the following: the technical feasibility of 
completing the asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 
the intention to complete the asset and use or sell it; the ability 
to use or sell the asset; how the asset will generate probable 
future economic benefits; the availability of adequate technical, 
financial and other resources to complete the development and 
to use or sell the asset; and the ability to measure reliably the 
expenditure attributable to the asset during its development. 
Capitalised development expenditure is carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Capitalised development costs are amortised using the 
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, 
which range from 5 to 10 years. Amortisation commences when 
the intangible asset is available for use.

   Other development expenditure is recognised as an expense 
when incurred.

Notes to the financial statements Continued...
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(k) Provisions
   Provisions are recognised when the company has a legal or 

constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it 
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and 
that outflow can be reliably measured.

(l) Leases
   At the commencement date of a lease (other than leases of 

12-months or less and leases of low value assets), the company 
recognises a lease asset representing its right to use the 
underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation 
to make lease payments.

   Lease assets 
Lease assets are initially recognised at cost, comprising the 
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date 
of the lease, less any lease incentives received, any initial 
direct costs incurred by the company, and an estimate of costs 
to be incurred by the company in dismantling and removing 
the underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located 
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by 
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are 
incurred to produce inventories.

   Subsequent to initial recognition, lease assets are measured at 
cost (adjusted for any remeasurement of the associated lease 
liability), less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment loss.

   Lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term 
and the estimated useful life of the underlying asset, consistent 
with the estimated consumption of the economic benefits 
embodied in the underlying asset.

   Lease liabilities 
Lease liabilities are initially recognised at the present value of 
the future lease payments (i.e., the lease payments that are 
unpaid at the commencement date of the lease). These lease 
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease, if that rate can be readily determined, or otherwise using 
the company’s incremental borrowing rate.

   Subsequent to initial recognition, lease liabilities are measured 
at the present value of the remaining lease payments (i.e., the 
lease payments that are unpaid at the reporting date). Interest 
expense on lease liabilities is recognised in profit or loss 
(presented as a component of finance costs). Lease liabilities 
are remeasured to reflect changes to lease terms, changes to 
lease payments and any lease modifications not accounted for 
as separate leases.

   Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of 
lease liabilities are recognised as an expense when incurred.

   Leases of 12-months or less and leases of low value assets 
Lease payments made in relation to leases of 12-months or less 
and leases of low value assets (for which a lease asset and a 
lease liability has not been recognised) are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(m) Goods and services tax (GST)
   Revenues, expenses and purchased assets are recognised 

net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these 
circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. 
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position 
are shown inclusive of GST.

   Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a 
gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and 
financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash 
flows.

(n) Comparatives
   Where necessary, comparative information has been 

reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year 
disclosures.
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2021 
$

2020 
$

Note 2: Revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers

Membership and Subscriptions 2,116,220 1,974,634

Licensing and Accreditation 3,650,331 2,339,987

Seminars and Conferences 929,926 283,853

Education and Training 860,724 1,132,449

Sale of Goods 1,610,018 1,544,493

Other fees 361,686 261,141

9,528,905 7,536,557

Government Subsidies – COVID-19

JobKeeper subsidies 258,000 150,000

Cashflow Boost stimulus 37,500 62,500

Payroll tax refund  – 696,779 

295,500 909,279

Other Income

Interest income 10,416 30,016

10,416 30,016

Total Revenue 9,834,821 8,475,852

Note 3: Result for the year

(a) Profit for the financial year has been determined after:

 –  Cost of sales 5,003,476 4,477,918

 –  Lease liabilities – finance charges 20,393 26,174

 –  Depreciation and amortisation 676,074 576,798

 –  Other employee benefits 1,051,872 1,265,038

(b) Auditors remuneration

 Remuneration of the auditors for:

 –  auditing or reviewing the financial statements 24,000 42,300

 –  other services 4,000  –

28,000 42,300

Notes to the financial statements Continued...
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2021 
$

2020 
$

Note 4: Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand 29 29

Cash at bank 146,234 161,932

Cash deposits at call – interest bearing 7,991,936 4,228,554

8,138,199 4,390,515

Reconciliation of cash 
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows  
is reconciled to items in the statement of financial position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 8,138,199 4,394,523

Bank overdraft  – (4,008)

8,138,199 4,390,515

Note 5: Trade and other receivables

Current
Trade receivables 119,036 997,016

Allowance for expected credit loss  –  –

119,036 997,016

Other receivables  –  –

Total current trade and other receivables 119,036 997,016

Note 6: Inventories

Current
Finished goods at cost 9,141 15,166

Less provision for obsolescence  –  –

9,141 15,166

Note 7: Other assets

Current
Prepayments 139,042 123,952

Accrued interest 2,162 1,430

141,204 125,382
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2021 
$

2020 
$

Note 8: Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold improvements
At cost 301,159 301,159

Accumulated depreciation (260,808) (229,216)

Total improvements 40,351 71,943

Plant and equipment
Furniture, fixtures and fittings

At cost 223,195 223,195

Accumulated depreciation (173,841) (149,806)

49,354 73,389

Computer equipment

At cost 329,020 242,380

Accumulated depreciation (191,379) (194,570)

137,641 47,810

Office equipment

At cost 149,851 140,175

Accumulated depreciation (133,267) (114,932)

16,584 25,243

Total property, plant and equipment 243,930 218,385

Leasehold 
Improvements 

$

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

fittings 
$

Computer 
equipment 

$

Office 
equipment 

$
Total 

$

Balance at the beginning of year 71,943 73,389 47,810 25,243 218,385

Additions  –  – 134,487 9,676 144,163

Disposals  –  –  –  –  –

Depreciation expense (31,592) (24,035) (44,656) (18,335) (118,618)

Carrying amount at the end of year 40,351 49,354 137,641 16,584 243,930

Movements in Carrying Amounts

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between 
the beginning and the end of the current financial year is reconciled as follows:

Notes to the financial statements Continued...
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Note
2021 

$
2020 

$

Note 9: Right-of-use assets

Non-current
Land and buildings – right-of-use a) 803,394 803,394

Accumulated depreciation (482,036) (241,018)

Total Right-of-use assets 321,358 562,376

 a) Right-of-use assets are for leased office facilties at the following locations: 
  – Building 2, 31-47 Joseph Street, Blackburn North, VIC 3130

Note 10: Intangible Assets

Non-current
Logbook development and accreditation costs

At cost 286,281 292,276

Accumulated depreciation (286,281) (215,376)

 – 76,900

Training modules

At cost 283,600 359,661

Accumulated depreciation (283,600) (136,439)

 – 223,222

Patents, trademarks and licences

At cost 5,130 5,130

Accumulated depreciation  –  –

5,130 5,130

Software development costs

At cost 240,565 240,565

Accumulated depreciation (219,139) (200,857)

21,426 39,708

Total Intangible assets 26,556 344,960

Logbook 
development & 

accreditation costs 
$

Training 
modules 

$

Patents, 
trademarks 

and licences 
$

Software 
development 

costs 
$

Total 
$

Balance at the beginning of year 76,900 223,222 5,130 39,708 344,960

Additions  –  –  –  –  –

Disposals  –  –  –  –  –

Depreciation expense (76,900) (223,222)  – (18,282) (318,404)

Carrying amount at the end of year  –  – 5,130 21,426 26,556

Movements in Carrying Amounts

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between 
the beginning and the end of the current financial year is reconciled as follows:
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Note
2021 

$
2020 

$

Note 11: Trade and other payables

Current
Unsecured liabilities

Trade payables 268,165 199,171

Sundry payables:

 – Accrued expenses 166,826 230,804

 – GST and other taxes 196,370 144,715

 – Payroll liabilities & superannuation 91,532 77,762

 – Commissions & Bonuses 21,000  –

743,893 652,452

Note 12: Borrowings

Current
Unsecured liabilities

Bank overdraft  – 3,896

Credit cards 436 8,027

436 11,923

Note 13: Lease Liabilities

Current
Lease liability – Land & Buildings a) 274,204 264,787

274,204 264,787

Non-current
Lease liability – Land & Buildings a) 118,218 367,757

118,218 367,757

Total Lease Liabilities 392,422 632,544

Lease expenses and cashflows:

 – Interest expense on lease liabilities 20,393 26,174

 – Depreciation expense on Right of use assets 241,018 241,018

 – Lease payments 260,515 256,464

 a) Leases for land and buildings are as per the disclosure at Note 9a) ‘Right-of-use assets’.

Note 14: Other liabilities

Current
Revenue received in advance 3,082,901 2,914,268

Other 100,732 100,732

3,183,633 3,015,000

Notes to the financial statements Continued...
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Note
2021 

$
2020 

$

Note 15: Provisions

Current
Annual Leave (a) 216,350 168,382

Long Service Leave (a) 27,563 67,484

Employee entitlements on-costs  – 50,000

243,913 285,866

Non-current
Employee entitlements on-costs (a) 32,534 20,088

32,534 20,088

(a) Aggregate employee benefits liability 276,447 255,954

Note 16: Events after the reporting period

COVID-19 Pandemic
On 11th March 2020 the World Health Organisation declared 
an ongoing global outbreak of a novel coronavirus, known as 
‘coronavirus disease 2019’ (‘COVID-19’) as a pandemic. Since 30 
June 2020, Fire Protection Association Australia has continued to 
provide its services to members and the broader fire protection 
industry where possible within the prevailing restrictions.

The full impact of the pandemic on Fire Protection Association 
Australia will not be fully quantifiable for some time, however, since 
30 June 2021 Fire Protection Association Australia has continued to 
operate largely at its normal capacity in most areas, and capacity is 
expected to return to normal in all areas once restrictions are lifted.

There have been no other matters or circumstances which have 
arisen since 30 June 2021 that have significantly affected or may 
significantly affect:

	\ the operations, in financial years subsequent to 30 June 2021, 
of the company, or

	\ the results of those operations, or
	\ the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent to 30 June 

2021, of the company.

Bank guarantees
Bank guarantee as security for premises lease at Building 2/ 31-47 
Joseph Street, Blackburn North Vic 3130
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Notes to the financial statements Continued...

2021 
$

2020 
$

Note 17: Cash flow information

a. Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Profit after Income Tax

Profit/ (Loss) for the year 2,366,666 1,103,738

Non-cash flows in profit

 Depreciation 676,074 576,798

 Reclassification of prepaid rent to financing operations  – (23,104)

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of purchase and disposal of subsidiaries

 (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 877,980 (867,184)

 (Increase)/decrease in inventories 6,025 90,499

 (Increase)/decrease in other assets (15,822) 14,650

 Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 91,441 87,825

 Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 168,633 966,869

 Increase/(decrease) in provisions (29,507) (108,341)

4,141,490 1,841,750

Note 18: Company Details

The registered office and principal place of business of the company is:

 Fire Protection Association Australia 
 Building 2, 31-47 Joseph Street, 
 Blackburn North, VIC 3130

Directors’ declaration
In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Fire Protection Association Australia, the directors have 
determined that the company is not a reporting entity and that this special purpose financial report should 
be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1 to the financial statements.

The directors of the company declare that:
1. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 32 to 52, are in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001 and:
 a. comply with Australian Accounting Standards; and
 b.  give a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its 

performance for the year ended on that date in accordance with the accounting policies 
described in Note 1 to the financial statements.

2. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to 
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Bill Lea 
Director

Dated this 1st day of November 2021

Russell Porteous 
Director
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(a)

(b)

giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its financial performance for the
year then ended; and
complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not‐for‐profits
Commission Regulation 2013 .

Emphasis of Matter ‐ Basis of Accounting

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial report, being a special purpose financial report of Fire Protection Association
Australia ('the Company') which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. And the Directors' Declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Fire Protection Association Australia, is in accordance with Division 60 of
the Australian Charities and Not‐for‐profits Commission Act 2012 , including:

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not‐for‐profits Commission Act 2012
('ACNC Act') and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) ('the Code') that are relevant to our audit of the
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information ‐ The annual report is not complete at the date of the audit report

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report has been
prepared to assist the Company to meet the requirements of the ACNC Act. As a result, the financial report may not be
suitable for another purpose.  Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the other information not yet received as identified above, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and use our professional judgement to determine the
appropriate action to take.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the directors report which was
obtained as at the date of our audit report, and any additional other information included in the Company's annual report for
the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.

54.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT (Continued)

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with the financial
reporting requirements of the ACNC Act and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

Kidmans Partners Audit Pty Ltd

Heinz Mai
Registered Company Auditor
Melbourne

Dated: 1st November 2021

56.

53

FPA Australia  Annual Report 2020-21



Key Personnel
Executive Team, as at 30 June, 2021

Mr John Clampett Chief Executive Officer

Mr Nathan Semos Chief Operating Officer

Mr Leigh Gesthuizen National Manager,  
Technical and Advisory

Mr Paul Hodgson Executive Officer,  
Fire Protection Industry Board

Ms Amanda Hogarth National Manager,  
Accreditation and Licensing

Mr Andrew Kendt Manager, Finance and Corporate 
(outgoing)

Mr Romel Sarmiento Manager, Finance and Corporate 
(incoming)

Mr Paul Waterhouse National Manager, Engagement

Mr David Williams National Manager,  
Training and Bushfire Services

Ms Melanie Zimmermann Personal Assistant to the CEO

Mr Allen Mitchell State Manager – Queensland

State and Territory Membership  
Groups – July, 2020 to June, 2021

State Chairman Deputy Chairman

New South Wales Mr George Reboredo Mr Steve Sonter

Queensland Mr Aaron Salt Currently vacant

South Australia Mr Jason Lohf Mr Alan Short

Tasmania Mr Paul Gleeson Mr Ross Murphy

Victoria Mr Mark Dunshore Currently vacant

Western Australia Mr Anthony Rowe Currently vacant

Australian Capital 
Territory

Committee needs to be created

Northern Territory Committee needs to be re-established
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Technical Advisory Committees

Committee Deputy Chairman

TAC/1 Maintenance of Fire Protection Systems and Equipment Mr John Lynch

TAC/2 Fire Detection and Alarm Systems Mr Carmelo Scaffidi

TAC/3/7 Portable and Mobile Equipment Mr Ray Mergard

TAC/4/8/9 Fire Sprinklers and Hydrant Systems, Tanks, and Fixed Fire Pumps Mr Paul Gatt

TAC11/22 Special Hazard Fire Protection Systems Mr Brett Staines

TAC/17 Emergency Planning Mr Roy Marshall

TAC/18/19 Fire Safety Mr Keith Nicholls

TAC/20 Bushfire Safety Dr Maria Kornakova (acting)

TAC-T Training Mr Rod Rolfe

FPA Australia email addresses

General enquiries fpaa@fpaa.com.au

CEO ceo@fpaa.com.au

Engagement enquiries engagement@fpaa.com.au

Membership enquiries member@fpaa.com.au

New member enquiries join@fpaa.com.au

Sales centre shop@fpaa.com.au

Media enquiries media@fpaa.com.au

Magazine (general advertising enquiries) magazine@fpaa.com.au

Advocacy/Technical technical@fpaa.com.au

Events events@fpaa.com.au

Accreditation and licensing – Fire Protection Accreditation Scheme (FPAS) fpas@fpaa.com.au

Accreditation and licensing – Bushfire Planning & Design (BPAD) Accreditation Scheme bpad@fpaa.com.au

Accreditation and licensing – cabling cpr@fpaa.com.au

Industry Training and Assessment training@fpaa.com.au

ODS and SGG Board ozone@fpib.com.au

Account enquiries accounts@fpaa.com.au

National office information

Address PO Box 1049, Box Hill VIC 3128 
Building 2, 31-47 Joseph Street, Blackburn North VIC 3130

Telephone 03 8892 3131

Fax 03 8892 3132 

Web www.fpaa.com.au

ABN 30 005 366 576

ACN 005 366 576
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Building 2, 31-47 Joseph Street 
Blackburn North 3130

PO Box 1049, Box Hill Vic 3128

03 8892 3131 
fpaa@fpaa.com.au

							  

fpaa.com.au

Australia’s peak body for 
fire safety, supporting and 

representing the fire protection 
industry for almost a century.

mailto:fpaa@fpaa.com.au
http://www.facebook.com/FPAAus
http://twitter.com/fpaaustralia
https://au.linkedin.com/company/fire-protection-association-australia-fpa-australia-
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